

# Single molecule localisation and structured illumination microscopy of platelet proteins

Poulter, Natalie; Khan, Abdullah; Pallini, Chiara; Thomas, Steven

DOI:

[10.1007/978-1-4939-8585-2](https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8585-2)

License:

None: All rights reserved

*Document Version*

Peer reviewed version

*Citation for published version (Harvard):*

Poulter, N, Khan, A, Pallini, C & Thomas, S 2018, Single molecule localisation and structured illumination microscopy of platelet proteins. in *Platelets and megakaryocytes: volume 4, advanced protocols and perspectives*. vol. 4, Methods in Molecular Biology, vol. 1812, Humana Press. <https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-8585-2>

[Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal](#)

**Publisher Rights Statement:**

Final Version of Record published as detailed above.

Checked 7.9.18

**General rights**

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

- Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.
- Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.
- User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?)
- Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

**Take down policy**

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact [UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk](mailto:UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk) providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.

## **Single Molecule Localisation and Structured Illumination Microscopy of Platelet Proteins**

Natalie S. Poulter <sup>1,2</sup>, Abdullah O. Khan <sup>1</sup>, Chiara Pallini <sup>1</sup>, & Steven G. Thomas <sup>1,2</sup>

1. Institute of Cardiovascular Sciences, College of Medical and Dental Sciences, University of Birmingham, UK.

2. COMPARE, University of Birmingham and University of Nottingham, Midlands, UK.

Corresponding author email address – [s.thomas@bham.ac.uk](mailto:s.thomas@bham.ac.uk)

“Running Head” – Super-resolution imaging of platelets

## **Abstract**

Super-resolution microscopy has become increasingly widespread over the past 5 years and allows users to image biological processes below the diffraction limit of traditional fluorescence microscopy where resolution is restricted to approximately 250 nm. Super-resolution refers to a wide range of techniques which employ different approaches to circumvent the diffraction limit. Two of these approaches, Structured Illumination Microscopy (SIM) and Single Molecule Localisation Microscopy (SMLM), which provide a doubling and tenfold increase in resolution respectively, are dominating the field. This is partly because of the insights into biology they offer and partly because of their commercialisation by the main microscope manufacturers. This chapter will provide background to the two techniques, practical considerations for their use and protocols for their application to platelet biology.

## **Keywords**

Platelets, Super-resolution, Single Molecule Localisation Microscopy, SMLM, Direct Stochastic Optical Reconstruction Microscopy, dSTORM, Structured Illumination Microscopy, SIM

## **1. Introduction**

Platelets are small cells, densely packed with granules which contain a dynamic cytoskeleton that is key to their function. Historically, good quality imaging of platelets has been restricted to the use of Electron Microscopy (EM) which is able to give high resolution information of structures such as the cytoskeleton [1,2] and alpha and dense granules [3,4]. Indeed, EM has been used clinically in the diagnosis of certain granule related disorders such as Grey Platelet Syndrome (alpha granule) and Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome (dense granule) [5]. Whilst EM allows for high quality imaging of the ultrastructure of platelets, it is restricted to fixed and highly processed samples. Visualisation of specific proteins via immuno-gold EM is possible, but again it is technically more challenging than the traditional cell preparation for fluorescence microscopy. Fluorescence imaging offers many distinct advantages over EM, including the ability to easily label specific proteins of interest, perform multi-colour imaging and to follow dynamic processes in living cells [6].

Fluorescence microscopy has allowed for significant advances in our understanding of the microscopic structure of cells, and in particular the dynamics and relationships between multiple proteins or structures of interest. However a fundamental limitation of fluorescence for high resolution imaging is that, until recently, the resolution of the image was determined by the diffraction limit of light. First defined by Ernst Abbe in 1873, the diffraction limit of light was described as a physical restriction on the final resolution of an image as a consequence of spherical waveforms passing through a circular aperture [7]. Steadily improving optical configurations, including high numerical aperture objectives, which are able to capture more of the photons emitted from a sample, have brought the resolution limit down to ~250 nm in  $xy$  and ~500 nm in  $z$ . This means that any two points of light that are closer together than 250 nm in  $xy$  will be seen as one object instead of two when viewed using a light microscope [8]. Whilst widefield and confocal imaging have provided many unique insights into cellular structures and their localisation, a fundamental caveat has always existed when studying structures beneath this limit of spatial resolution. For example, when we consider that the size of vesicles and granules are in the region of 50 - 500 nm it becomes clear that co-localisation of two different proteins in a diffraction-limited image does not necessarily mean that the two proteins are found within the same compartment. These issues are compounded in platelets, which are small, densely packaged cells where spatial relationships more often lie beneath the diffraction limit. As such, diffraction limited imaging of platelets often leads to false co-localizations and overlap of fluorescent labels, making conclusions about their exact location and function more difficult to draw. Platelets also lack a nucleus, which makes them intractable to traditional cell biology approaches for fluorescently tagging proteins of interest.

Within the last 15 years sub-diffraction imaging, more commonly referred to as super-resolution microscopy, has been developed. Super-resolution microscopy is a term which encompasses a number of modalities, each of which has overcome the diffraction barrier using a different approach and therefore each one offers its own unique advantages and disadvantages. A comparison of the various techniques and their applications are beyond the scope of this chapter but various recent reviews [9,10] have described this in detail and are worth reading before embarking on any super-resolution

experiments. In this chapter we will introduce two super-resolution approaches: single molecule localisation microscopy (SMLM) and structured illumination microscopy (SIM), with a particular focus on their relevance to the study of platelets. We will provide protocols and hardware information on how to apply these techniques to the study of the platelet cytoskeleton and platelet signalling.

### **1.1 Single Molecule Localization Microscopy (SMLM)**

SMLM methods allow for single molecule detection and the subsequent compilation of these localisations to form a super-resolved image [11]. SMLM techniques offer the highest spatial resolution currently available, down to as little as 10-20 nm in  $xy$ . This approach also offers unique quantitative benefits, particularly when investigating protein-protein interactions. Where single molecules are accurately detected and fitted, complex cluster analysis can be applied to study the density of individual emitters and their spatial relationship to one another [12,13]. SMLM techniques also pose a number of unique methodical challenges due to the sensitivity and nature of the detection method.

SMLM approaches first emerged as two principally similar but technically distinct imaging modalities. The first, STochastic Optical Reconstruction Microscopy (STORM), was published in 2006 [14] and relies on single molecule detections in fixed samples through the use of coupled dyes or antibodies. The second, PhotoActivated Localisation Microscopy (PALM), generates similar data sets through the use of unique photoactivatable or photoswitchable fluorescent proteins [15].

While a number of different STORM approaches have been developed, direct STORM (dSTORM) [16] is the most widely used due to its relative simplicity, the ability to utilise the optical sectioning capability of Total Internal Reflection Fluorescence (TIRF) and the option of performing 3D imaging by incorporating a cylindrical or astigmatic lens into the light path [17]. In dSTORM, a sample labelled with conventional antibodies is imaged at high laser intensities in the presence of an appropriate redox buffer. Under these conditions, the fluorophores are driven into a dark state, and only a small fraction of these become fluorescent in any one time frame. Therefore, a labelled sample is reduced into what is described as a 'blinking' data set, where a series of frames (in the region of

10,000-30,000) are acquired as the basis for computational reconstruction with each 'blink' representing a single fluorophore. Over the course of a large number of rapidly acquired frames, fitting algorithms can be applied to compile the probabilistic position of each emitter/molecule, thus rendering a super-resolved image.

While dSTORM can undoubtedly generate stunning images at 10s of nanometers of resolution, there are a number of technical requirements which must be met in order to achieve high quality data sets [11,18]. Firstly, an imaging system with a high NA (numerical aperture) objective, high powered lasers, and efficient camera is required. Modern EMCCD and CMOS cameras have evolved in leaps and bounds both in terms of speed and sensitivity, allowing for the acquisition of 100s of frames per second, thereby satisfying the need for the rapid acquisition of blinking fluorophores. In addition, the use of z drift correction systems such as Nikon's Perfect Focus System (PFS) helps improve the quality of the final images displayed.

Beyond the necessary hardware, sample preparation and image reconstruction are two key components of successful SMLM imaging. With the appropriate camera, illumination, and acquisition parameters, a sequence of several thousand frames comprised of 'blinks' will be generated. This pointillistic data set is ultimately the source of a SMLM image, and as such appropriate computational modelling of these blinks is necessary for an accurate final super-resolved image. Early SMLM methods applied a relatively simple Gaussian fitting approach, whereby each individual point is fitted to a Gaussian curve, and the resulting compilation of fits assembled to generate the final image [11]. While effective, this approach suffered from a number of distinct limitations which has since led to the development of a host of alternative calculations for the derivation of SMLM images from blinking data sets. These are detailed in an excellent comparative review [19] and so it is advised that fitting algorithm selection be determined based on the characteristics of your sample. Regardless of the fitting method used, the number of photons detected from a single fluorophore is a major factor in determining the precise location of that molecule and experimental set ups should therefore try to maximise this parameter to achieve the image with the highest possible resolution [20].

Finally, sample preparation is another critical component of quality SMLM imaging. For dSTORM, where antibodies are applied to a fixed sample, generating a sample which attains a high labelling density and low background is essential. Firstly, an appropriate method of fixation and permeabilisation must be selected, particularly when imaging the cytoskeleton. For example, clearing with microtubule stabilizing buffer (MTSB) and subsequent methanol fixation can effectively remove non-polymerized tubulin molecules, thereby removing a significant amount of background from tubulin [present in -the](#) samples. However, such a buffer may not be appropriate for imaging the fine actin filament network as this can be destroyed by methanol based fixation methods [21].

Quality antibodies are needed to maintain adequate labelling while minimising background. In dSTORM imaging individual points are assigned to the final reconstructed image, as such extracellular background can quickly clutter a reconstruction. This not only impacts the qualitative value of the image, but can have a significant effect on quantification. Labelling density is of equal importance at nanoscale resolutions, where poor sampling can significantly impact the final results [22].

Where the above criteria are satisfied, SMLM approaches, and in particular dSTORM, are powerful qualitative and quantitative tools with significant biological applications. Single molecule resolution allows for a robust interrogation of the spatial arrangement of individual proteins within the cell.

Where receptor dynamics are concerned, molecule clustering can provide a unique insight into how proteins are recruited in response to particular stimuli [23-25]. Examples of how this can be applied to the study of platelets are provided below. Similarly this approach can provide an unprecedented understanding of cytoskeletal structures, all of which lie significantly below the diffraction limit. For example, actin exists in filaments 7-9 nm in diameter and microtubules are in the order of 25 nm, both of which play an integral role in platelet morphology and function. Therefore SMLM studies of the cytoskeleton and its relationship with key cellular components can reveal novel insights at the single molecule level [26].

## **1.2 Structured illumination microscopy (SIM)**

In contrast to SMLM methods which detect single molecules and reconstructs the image in a pointillistic manner, structured illumination microscopy (SIM) is actually an optical sectioning technique which can increase axial resolution to around 100 – 120 nm [27,28]. In a fluorescence image, the sub-diffraction limit detail is known as high frequency information and is beyond the range of frequencies that can be collected by the objective lens. During SIM image acquisition, a low frequency grid pattern is projected onto the sample (usually via a diffraction grating in the illumination pathway) which generates interference patterns (known as Moiré fringes) due to interactions with the high frequency details of the sample. The interference patterns are of a lower frequency than the original detail and so can be collected by the objective lens and importantly these patterns contain information regarding the sub-diffraction limit fine sample detail. During imaging, numerous orientations of the grid pattern are taken at each focal plane (usually 5 phase shifts at 3 rotations) and the resulting interference patterns are mathematically reconstructed in Fourier space to extract sub-diffraction limit details of the sample. The technique can be performed in 2D and in 3D and furthermore has the advantage that it can be performed on live samples [29,30]. Assuming the appropriate lasers, diffraction gratings and filter sets are in place, SIM can image a range of standard fluorophores, including organic dyes (FITC, TRITC, Alexa, Atto, etc.) and fluorescent proteins (GFP, RFP, mCherry, etc.). As for SMLM imaging, high quality optics, cameras and lasers are required and the use of focal drift correction mechanisms will improve image quality. However, SIM is technically less challenging to perform than SMLM and is therefore more flexible in its application and can be more easily performed on a range of sample types (e.g. fixed and mounted, live and unmounted). As for all microscope techniques and discussed above, good fixation and labelling protocols are required, as is the need for good quality, validated antibodies against your protein of interest. The range of reconstruction algorithms for SIM is more limited than SMLM techniques, but Dennerle *et al* [27] describe important considerations when image processing and spotting common artefacts.

So, whilst SIM may not provide quantitative information on the 10 nm scale, excellent images can be generated due to the doubling of resolution, optical sectioning and increased contrast it provides. This can reveal details about the sample which are not clear in diffraction limited imaging. Furthermore,

because a SIM image is made up of pixels (and not coordinates as in SMLM), these can be treated as “standard” images and thus a full suite of commonly used image analysis techniques are available (e.g. Co-localisation by Pearsons Correlation) for image processing.

### **1.3. Super resolution imaging of platelets**

Recently a number of platelet studies have employed super-resolution microscopy to investigate the spatial distribution of proteins within platelets to try to gain insight into their function. SIM is the technique which has been most widely used, most likely due to the ease of which it can be applied to samples that have been prepared for conventional fluorescence microscopy. Several groups have used SIM to investigate the co-localisation of proteins at higher resolution, for example the co-clustering of proteins into alpha-granules [31] or to see the spatial relationship between actin and adhesion related proteins such as vinculin [32,33]. In the case of Poulter *et al.* the increased resolution afforded by the use of SIM allowed the authors to develop a model for the spatial organisation and the role that a specialised actin structure, called the actin nodule, plays in platelet adhesion. This would not have been possible with conventional, diffraction limited microscopy [33].

SIM has also been proposed as an alternative to EM in the diagnosis of platelet granule disorders, with Hermansky-Pudlak syndrome as the proof-of-principle [34]. In this paper, the authors present SIM of CD63 in platelets combined with automated analysis of the images as a quantitative, unbiased, high-throughput method for diagnosis of this syndrome. Recently SIM has been used to image binding of GPVI-Fc to collagen fibres [35]. This study also used an alternative super-resolution technique known as STimulated Emission Depletion (STED) which is a confocal based technique offering resolutions in the range of 50 – 75 nm [36]. dSTORM has also been applied to the analysis of platelet receptors, where its quantitative nature has been exploited. For example, Poulter *et al.*, in addition to using SIM, applied dSTORM to identify patterns in the distribution of  $\alpha$ IIB $\beta$ 3 integrin at actin nodules and to quantify the level of phosphoprotein present at these structures [33]. Pollitt *et al.* used dSTORM to show that the podoplanin receptor CLEC-2 clustered above the level expected of a random distribution when platelets were spread on podoplanin. This work went on to show that it was

this clustering that was important for CLEC-2 signalling [37]. Other work looking at GPVI clustering in response to different substrates has shown that the density of GPVI clusters is determined by the substrate on which the platelet is spreading and that this clustering of GPVI dimers represents a second level of control to regulate GPVI-mediated signalling and platelet activation [37].

Whilst at present PALM has limited applications in the platelet field due to the need for genetically expressed fluorescent proteins, current work on CRISPR-Cas9 engineering of mouse lines and iPS cells, combined with developments in platelet production from these progenitor cells [38-40] may allow for the generation of platelets expressing photoswitchable fusion tags which, in turn, could permit quantitative super-resolution imaging of endogenous proteins, potentially in live platelets. This is an area that will undoubtedly flourish over the coming years.

## 2. Materials

### 2.1. Biological

Prepare all solutions using deionised water unless otherwise stated.

1. Concentrated citrate solution: 4 % (w/v) Sodium citrate
2. Acid Citrate Dextrose (ACD): 120 mM sodium citrate, 110 mM glucose and 80 mM citric acid
3. Modified Tyrode's buffer: 134 mM NaCl, 0.34 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 2.9 mM KCl, 12 mM NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, 20 mM HEPES, 1 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM glucose, pH 7.3.
4. Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS): 10 mM phosphate buffer, 2.7 mM potassium chloride and 137 mM sodium chloride, pH 7.4
5. Prostacyclin: (0.1 µg mL<sup>-1</sup>) in 50 mM Trizma base, pH 9.1
6. Biological substrate of interest. e.g. Fibrinogen (VWF and plasminogen depleted) diluted to 100 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> in PBS
7. 35 mm glass-bottomed imaging dishes with the 10 mm diameter, no. 1.5 coverslip.

**Comment [ST(oCaEM1):** Jon – we have a manuscript which has been revised and sent back to Sci Reports, that would go nicely here. If it is accepted and in time, is there a possibility we could include it here?

Absolutely – this could be added later – at the proof stage if this takes some time.

**Comment [ST(oCaEM2):** Excellent – Thank you. Just need the reviewers and journal to pull their finger out and be nice to us!

**Comment [JG3]:** Could you please add a little more info here please as this is a little ambiguous...

**Comment [ST(oCaEM4):** Detail added

**Comment [JG5]:** Could you please give the composition (even if from premade tablets, the composition should be known).

**Comment [ST(oCaEM6):** Detail added

**Comment [JG7]:** Please state what the diluent is

**Comment [ST(oCaEM8):** Diluent added

**Comment [JG9]:** If possible from alternative suppliers then the publishers don't like to include specifics for one supplier (they are trying avoid being sued!). If this does only work with dishes from this supplier then please reinstate the supplier.

**Comment [ST(oCaEM10):** Other types of dishes can be used and so happy to have supplier removed here

8. 13mm diameter no. 1.5 coverslips
9. Fatty acid free BSA – denatured: 5mg mL<sup>-1</sup> in PBS
10. Fixative: 10% formalin
11. Block buffer: 1 % BSA, 2 % goat serum in PBS
12. Phalloidin – AlexaFluor-488: 6.6 μM stock in methanol
13. Mouse anti-phosphotyrosine antibody (clone 4G10)
14. Goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L) highly cross absorbed AlexaFluor-647 antibody.

15. [Non-fluorescing aqueous Hydromount](#) mounting medium

16. STORM blinking buffer: PBS containing 100 mM [2-Mercaptoethylamine \(MEA-HCl\)](#), 50 μg mL<sup>-1</sup> glucose oxidase and 1 μg mL<sup>-1</sup> catalase

## 2.2. Hardware

### [2.2.1 General hardware](#)

[Particle count and size analyser](#)

### 2.2.2 SIM

SIM imaging is generally performed on commercial SIM microscopes, however, custom built systems do exist. Regardless of the source of the system, the following components are required for performing [single molecule localization structured illumination](#) microscopy. Critical to the system is the ability to generate the illumination patterns onto the sample and this can be done using a variety of approaches which are detailed in Dennerle et al [27]. The system should be based around a research quality inverted fluorescence microscope stand with a high numerical aperture (NA), 100x oil immersion objective lens and excitation, dichroic and emission filter sets suitable for [the fluorophores](#) to be used. For performing 3D-SIM, a motorized stage is required to allow different focal planes to be

**Comment [JG11]:** Nf this type of mounting medium is the only that work please leave in – if other possibilities exist remove 'hydromount'

**Comment [ST(oCaEM12):** Other mounting media can be used so happy to have tradename removed here. I have added a generic description.

**Comment [JG13]:** Spell out in full (and abbreviate if necessary)

**Comment [ST(oCaEM14):** Detail added

**Comment [JG15]:** It might be best to focus on the specifications that are required and then go on with the following sections as examples of what you use. If you have access to the last book have a look at Chapter 1 section 2.3 where Marijke and Johan do exactly this type of thing. There is nothing wrong with suggesting what you use, but we need to be clear that there are alternatives

**Comment [ST(oCaEM16):** I have tried to include a section for both SIM and STORM that lists the generic requirements of the system and then the specifics of what was used for the experiments as described. Please see what I have wrote below and let me know if this OK?

captured. Illumination of samples can be performed using standard lasers of the required wavelength with commonly used wavelengths including 647 nm, 561 nm and 488 nm and 405 nm. Both Scientific Complementary Metal-Oxide Semiconductor (sCMOS) and Electron Multiplying Charged Coupled Device (EMCCD) cameras can be used for SIM and the choice of camera will depend on the sensitivity or speed required. Finally, the system requires software to control both the acquisition of raw data and the processing of reconstructed data sets. Both freely available and commercial software packages are available to perform these tasks.

For the SIM experiments described below, we used a Nikon N-SIM system including an Eclipse Ti-E inverted microscope, Perfect Focus system 2, Apo TIRF 100x Oil DIC N2 1.49NA objective lens and 488 filter cube. Illumination was from a Nikon LU5 laser bed (including 488 nm laser line) and images were captured using an Andor DU-897 X-6005 EMCCD camera. The system was driven and images reconstructed using NIS-Elements Advanced Research software v4.5, with SIM module.

### 2.2.3 STORM

dSTORM imaging can be carried out on commercial STORM/PALM microscope or on custom built systems. Regardless of the source of the system, the following components are required for performing single molecule localization microscopy. The system should be based around a research quality inverted fluorescence microscope stand with a high numerical aperture (NA), 100x oil immersion objective lens and excitation, dichroic and emission filter sets suitable for [the](#) fluorophores to be used. Furthermore, focus drift mechanisms can improve the quality of the dSTORM data sets obtained by reducing drift in  $z$ . Illumination of samples should be performed using high power lasers of the required wavelength to drive fluorophores into the dark state. Commonly used wavelengths for dSTORM include 647 nm, 561 nm and 488 nm. A 405 nm laser is also required for reactivation of 647 nm [dyes](#) during imaging. Capture of single molecules requires a high sensitivity EMCCD camera with high readout speeds. However, recent advances in sCMOS cameras means they have started to be used on dSTORM microscopes. dSTORM can be performed either in TIRF or in 3D. This requires appropriate TIRF illuminator mechanisms or [point spread function \(PSF\)](#) distorting lenses in the

emission pathway to be installed to allow this additional functionality. The ability to tightly control the temperature of the microscope and thermal drift of the sample, along with the reduction in air movements across the sample will improve the stability of the system ~~of~~for the timescale of the image acquisition and therefore improve the overall image quality. Finally, the system requires software to control both the acquisition of raw data and the processing of reconstructed data sets. Both freely available and commercial software packages are available to perform these tasks.

For the dSTORM experiments described below, we used a Nikon N-STORM system including an Eclipse Ti-E inverted microscope, TIRF module, Perfect Focus system 3, CFI SR Apochromat TIRF 100x Oil 1.49NA objective lens and N-STORM filter cube (Quad or single). Illumination was from an Agilent Ultra High Power Dual Output Laser bed equipped with 4 laser lines (30 mW 405 nm; 120 mW 488 nm; 120 mW 561 nm; 170-mW 647 nm) and images were captured using an Andor IXON Ultra 897 EMCCD camera. 3D images were captured using a 3D cylindrical lens and temperature was controlled by an Okolab S.r.l incubator set at 28 °C. The system was driven and images reconstructed using NIS-Elements Advanced Research software v4.5, with STORM module v4.1

### **3. Methods**

#### **3.1 Platelet preparation**

The protocol detailed here gives information on how to isolate, wash and spread human and mouse platelets onto fibrinogen and then label and image the actin cytoskeleton (using fluorescent phalloidin) or phosphorylated proteins (using the 4G10 antibody). The antibody concentrations and labelling protocol for your proteins of interest will need to be empirically tested but this gives a good starting point for your experiments.

##### **3.1.1 Preparation of washed human platelets**

All steps are performed at room temperature and in a swing bucket rotor centrifuge unless otherwise stated.

1. Take human blood by venepuncture into sodium citrate (10% v:v). Further anti-coagulate blood by adding ACD to a final concentration of 10% v:v.

3. Spin anti-coagulated blood at  $200 \times g$  for 20 min. Carefully collect the platelet rich plasma (PRP) and centrifuge at  $1,000 \times g$  for 10 min in the presence of  $0.1 \mu\text{g mL}^{-1}$  prostacyclin.

4. Resuspend the platelet pellet in 28 mL of wash buffer (25 mL of modified Tyrode's buffer, 3 mL of ACD (both warmed to  $37^\circ\text{C}$ ) and  $0.1 \mu\text{g mL}^{-1}$  prostacyclin) and centrifuge the cells at  $1,000 \times g$  for 10 min. Resuspend the pellet in 1 mL of modified Tyrode's buffer.

5. Measure the concentration of platelets using a particle count and size analyzer and dilute to  $2 \times 10^8$  platelets  $\text{mL}^{-1}$  with modified Tyrode's buffer. Rest platelets for 30 min before starting the spreading experiments to allow excess prostacyclin to lose activity.

**Comment [JG17]:** Nice to see the old methods still used.....takes me back!

**Comment [JG18]:** Please add to the hardware section of section 2 (probably don't need to use a specific make or model).

**Comment [ST(oCaEM19):** Added to hardware section

### 3.1.2 Preparation of washed mouse platelets

All steps are performed at room temperature and in a swing bucket rotor centrifuge unless otherwise stated.

1. Draw mouse blood into 10% v:v ACD by either direct cardiac puncture or from the vena cava following laparotomy. Add anti-coagulated blood to 200  $\mu\text{L}$  warmed modified Tyrode's buffer.

2. Centrifuge anti-coagulated blood for 5 min at 2000 rpm in a benchtop microfuge. Decant the top 750  $\mu\text{L}$  of PRP and a small amount of red blood cells (to ensure maximum recovery of platelets) into a clean 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube and centrifuge at  $200 \times g$  for 6 min. Carefully collect the plasma and the layer of platelets sitting on top of the packed red blood cells layer and place into a clean 1.5 mL Eppendorf tube.

**Comment [JG20]:** Not sure I understand this – you do a slow spin – then take most of the blood – including red cells into another tube and spin again?

**Comment [ST(oCaEM21):** Yes – It does seem strange but I think it does a good job of removing most of the red blood cells, but ensuring that we recover the maximum number of platelets, as in mouse they sit on top of the red cells after spinning. I've modified the text slightly in this section to make it (hopefully) clearer.

3. Centrifuge the PRP (the plasma and platelet layers from step 2) at  $1,000 \times g$  for 6 min in the presence of  $0.1 \mu\text{g mL}^{-1}$  prostacyclin in order to isolate the platelets from the PRP.

**Comment [JG22]:** Is this the plasma and platelet layer from the last step combined (sorry for my pedantry ....I am trying to look at this from the novice's perspective.

4. Resuspend the platelet pellet in approximately 200  $\mu\text{L}$  modified Tyrode's buffer and measure the platelet concentration using a cell counter. Dilute the platelet suspension to  $2 \times 10^8$  platelets  $\text{mL}^{-1}$  with

**Comment [ST(oCaEM23):** Added extra detail to clarify

modified Tyrode's buffer. Rest the platelets for 30 mins before starting the spreading experiments to allow excess prostacyclin to decay.

### 3.2 Sample preparation

#### 3.2.1 Preparation of coverslips and dishes for platelet spreading

1. For STORM/PALM imaging 35 mm diameter, #1.5 (0.17 mm) glass bottomed [MatTek](#) dishes are used. For SIM imaging either 13 mm diameter, #1.5 (0.17 mm) glass coverslips or 35 mm #1.5 (0.17 mm) glass bottomed [MatTek](#) dishes are used. (Note 1)
2. Coat the imaging surface by incubating with  $100 \mu\text{g mL}^{-1}$  of fibrinogen (in PBS) overnight at  $4^\circ\text{C}$ .
3. Block any remaining uncoated glass by incubation with  $5 \text{ mg mL}^{-1}$  BSA for 1 h at room temperature followed by three washes with PBS. Store coated surface in PBS until ready for platelet spreading.

**Comment [JG24]:** The publishers don't like suppliers in the actual methods section. Can you adapt moving the MatTek dishes to Note 1 as one of the options – where you say that a range of options are available.

**Comment [ST(oCaEM25):** Remove d supplier from here and included in Note section

#### 3.2.2 Spreading and labelling of platelet F-actin and phosphorylated proteins

1. Dilute washed and rested platelets to  $2 \times 10^7$  platelets  $\text{mL}^{-1}$  in Tyrode's buffer and add to the glass bottomed dish or coverslip (held in a 12-well plate) and allow to spread on the coated surface for 45 min at  $37^\circ\text{C}$  (Note 2).
2. After spreading, wash non-adhered cells away with PBS [pre-warmed to  \$37^\circ\text{C}\$](#)  and fix the spread platelets with 10 % formalin solution for 10 min (Note 3).
3. Following fixation, wash coverslips three times in PBS. If aldehyde based fixation methods are used then residual fixative can be quenched by incubating the fixed platelets in 50 mM ammonium chloride for 10 min, followed by three PBS washes.
4. Permeabilise cells with 0.1 % Triton X-100 (v:v) in PBS for 5 min, followed by three PBS washes (Note 4).

**Comment [JG26]:** Please state temp

**Comment [ST(oCaEM27):** Temperature added

5. If the platelets are going to be labelled with an antibody a blocking step needs to be performed to reduce non-specific antibody binding. Incubate the platelets in block buffer for 1 h at room temperature.

6. For SIM imaging of F-actin, incubate fixed and permeabilised platelets in a 1: 500 dilution of Alexa488-phalloidin in PBS for 1 h at room temperature (Note 5). Wash samples three times in PBS.

6. For dSTORM [imaging of tyrosine phosphorylated proteins](#), dilute the 4G10 antibody 1:500 into block buffer and incubate with platelets for 1 h at room temperature (Note 6). Following labelling, wash three times with PBS.

Comment [JG28]: OK?

Comment [ST(oCaEM29)]: Yes!

7. Dilute the anti-mouse AlexaFluor-647 secondary antibody 1: 300 into block buffer and incubate with platelets for 1 h at room temperature (Note 7). Wash samples three times in PBS.

8. For SIM imaging, mount coverslips onto glass slides using [non-fluorescing aqueous mounting medium](#)~~Hydromount solution~~ and store at 4 °C. Samples for SIM imaging in dishes can be stored in PBS at 4 °C.

Comment [JG30]: Nf this type of mounting medium is the only that work please leave in – if other possibilities exist remove 'hydromount'

Comment [ST(oCaEM31)]: Updated with generic name

9. For dSTORM/PALM imaging, store dishes in PBS at 4 °C.

### 3.3 Super-resolution imaging of platelet samples

#### 3.3.1 SIM imaging of platelet samples

For optimal imaging results using SIM, the microscope needs to be set up, aligned and calibrated correctly. For multi-user/core facilities, this should be done routinely by the facility, but for single user or non-facility based systems, this will need to be carried out by the user. The details of this calibration are beyond the scope of this chapter, but extensive details on the theory of SIM, how to perform calibrations and how to troubleshoot imaging problems have been provided by Demmerle *et al* [27].

1. Place the dish, or slide, to be imaged on the microscope stage within the microscope incubator.

Using high NA immersion oil applied to the 100x lens, bring the objective lens up to engage with the

coverslip. Bring the cells into focus on the camera by using the fine focus and engage [focus drift correction system](#) ~~PFS~~.

2. In the software, select the required optical configuration and correct diffraction grating [for your fluorophore\(s\)](#). ~~(for Alexa488 phalloidin use 3D-SIM 488 & 100 EX V R respectively)~~ and ~~set the laser fibre input to "Multi"~~.

3. Adjust the ~~488~~ laser power and camera exposure time to achieve an image intensity signal level (grey levels) of approximately 4,000 (for the 14 bit camera setting used). (Note 8)

4. Select ~~3D2D-SIM options~~ in ~~the capture menu~~ your software; ensure that the grating pattern can be clearly seen in focus in the image (Fig 1A) and ~~press capture~~ to acquire a single z plane. This will collect a raw image which contains the 15 frames needed for SIM reconstruction (3 rotations and 5 phases – see Fig 1A). [For 3D-SIM](#), Z-stacks through the cell can also be acquired by [using the motorised stage of the microscope and capturing the multi-rotation, multi-phase images at each focal plane setting the top and bottom plane of the cell and the z step size in the "nd acquisition box" \(Note](#)

9). A diffraction limited image can be collected for reference (Fig 1B & C). (Note 10).

### 3.3.2 Image processing of raw SIM data

~~It is critical for optimal image reconstruction that the correct number of grey levels are collected and the grating pattern is seen with good contrast in the raw images. Further adjustments to the final reconstructed image quality can be made by adjusting reconstruction parameters in the software.~~

[1. Open the raw SIM image data file within the respective microscope analysis package for your microscope system.](#)

2. In a z-stack, remove the slices that are well above and below the area of interest to improve the quality of the reconstruction.

3. [Most commonly used SIM reconstruction software packages allow adjustment of certain parameters to improve the final reconstructed SIM image. These may include noise filtering, out of](#)

**Comment [JG32]:** If you tone down the Nikon specificity in earlier sections you might want to use a different term for this – “continuous automated focus system”....or something less made up by me!

**Comment [ST(oCaEM33):** Have replaced with something made up by me!

**Comment [JG34]:** Is this Nikon specific?

**Comment [ST(oCaEM35):** Yes – I have replaced with a generic statement

**Comment [JG36]:** Is this Nikon specific? Perhaps rephrase to make more generic?

**Comment [ST(oCaEM37):** Probably easier to just say acquire!

**Comment [JG38]:** ditto

**Comment [ST(oCaEM39):** I have simplified this statement

**Comment [JG40]:** this reads a bit like a pre-amble to the section rather than an instruction....

**Comment [SGT41]:** Agreed - have taken away the number and left as a pre-amble. Also made method below more generic and removed Nikon specific items.

[focus blur suppression and illumination modulation contrast ratio](#). Details of how these parameters will affect image reconstruction will be found in your software's help files. Additionally, Demmerle et al [27] describe the theoretical principles behind these parameters in greater detail to enable the user to perform optimum, artefact free reconstructions. Within the N-SIM window selecting the "Param" button allows a preview of the image to be generated following adjustment of parameters controlling 'Illumination modulation contrast' (use larger values where grating contrast is poor), 'high resolution noise suppression' (larger values help remove high frequency artefacts at the cost of fine detail structure) and 'Out of focus blur suppression' (use larger values to suppress out of focus light).

**Comment [JG42]:** Nikon specific?

4. Once satisfied with the parameters click reconstruct to apply to the image and generate a SIM super-resolution image (Fig 1E & F)

5. [A quick readout of SIM image quality can be performed using assessed by performing](#) a Fourier transform of the ~~data-reconstructed image in Fiji [41, 42]. This reveal the~~ characteristic petal shaped pattern of a good SIM image (Fig 1D & G); ~~indicates that the reconstruction was normal and the reconstructed image contains effective information from each component in the raw data set.~~ [Deviations from this petal shaped pattern may indicate problems with one or more components of the reconstruction. Fourier transforms can be carried out on the reconstructed image in Fiji \[41,42\]](#) (Note 11).

**Comment [JG43]:** Very pretty – How do you interpret this – or use as a measure of SIM quality?

**Comment [ST(oCaEM44):** Hopefully now made this clear

### 3.3.3 dSTORM imaging of platelet samples

For optimal imaging results using dSTORM, the microscope needs to be set up, aligned and calibrated correctly (this includes TIRF alignment, 3D calibration files and chromatic aberration warp files for 3D and multi-colour STORM respectively). For multi-user/core facilities, this should be done routinely by the facility, but for single user or non-facility based systems, this will need to be carried out by the user. The details of this calibration are beyond the scope of this chapter, but extensive details on how to perform calibrations should be provide by the microscope provider and troubleshooting of STORM imaging problems have been provided by several groups [43-45,18].

1. Before imaging, pre-warm the microscope incubator to 28 °C for a number of hours (usually overnight). Place both the glass-bottomed MatTek dish with the sample and the STORM blinking buffer into the microscope incubator to warm for at least 15 min prior to imaging (Note 12).

**Comment [JG45]:** Cell culture dish? Actually – called imaging dish in next point

2. Put the blinking buffer into the glass-bottomed imaging dish (Note 13) and place the dish onto the microscope stage within the microscope incubator, apply high NA immersion oil to the lens and bring up the lens to engage with the coverslip. Use fine focus to bring the sample into focus on the camera and engage focus drift correction system PFS (Note 14).

**Comment [JG46]:** As earlier

3. Using low laser power (usually less than <0.1 % to avoid bleaching the sample) identify an appropriate field of view (FOV), ~~and~~ focus the sample. ~~Select a camera region of interest (ROI) of 256 x 256 pixels~~ and take a reference snapshot (Fig 2A). If a 3D image is required ensure that the cylindrical lens is in position and 3D-STORM mode is selected before starting acquisition.

4. Start a live image and then increase the power of the 647 nm laser to 100 % ~~(Camera exposure time; 1 frame (~10 ms), Conversion gain: 3, EM gain: 300)~~. Follow the live image until the sample has bleached and individual fluorescent blinks are observed (usually between 1 and 30 s depending on the label used). At this point start image acquisition and capture 20,000 frames using an appropriate exposure time and camera setting. (For the examples shown here we used a camera exposure time: 1 frame (~10 ms), Conversion gain: 3, EM gain: 300). Increase 405 nm laser power in ~2.5- 5 % steps every 30 s throughout the acquisition to assist in reactivation of fluorophore from the dark state to maintain the number of detected blinks per frame. Numbers of molecules detected and the preview dSTORM image can be followed by selecting the appropriate software functions. At the end of acquisition save files into the appropriate file format for your software. files are automatically saved as .nd2 files and tagged as STORM images by the software.

**Comment [JG47]:** Nikon specific?

**Comment [SToCaEM48]:** Made generic but added specifics for the images given as examples.

**Comment [JG49]:** Nikon specific?

5. Return laser settings to starting values. Select a new FOV for imaging and repeat the above process.

### 3.3.4 Image processing of raw dSTORM data

1. Open the raw STORM image data files (~~and file~~) within the respective microscope analysis package for your microscope system. ~~the N-STORM module in NIS-Elements~~ (Note 15).

**Comment [JG50]:** Remove? = Nikon specific

2. Select a middle frame from the image sequence and use this to set the threshold for point identification ~~through the "Identification settings" dialogue box~~. Different threshold values should be tested to ensure that all 'real' blinks are detected and that background is not (Note 16).

**Comment [JG51]:** "The respective microscope analysis package for your microscope system"

**Comment [JG52]:** Nikon?

3. If the image is 3D (i.e. was collected using the cylindrical lens), then select the appropriate options in your software package. ~~"fit overlapping peaks" option can be used~~ which will maximises the identification of distorted point spread functions. A valid 3D calibration file is needed for this processing to assign correct z positions (Note 17).

**Comment [JG53]:** Nikon?

4. Once settings have been confirmed, start reconstruction of the STORM image by clicking the process, start button. Once finished the software will display a high resolution image of the data (Fig 2B). The display options and any subsequent processing. (e.g. density filtering, rendering, 3D visualisation, etc.) can be performed (Fig 2C – E).

5. ~~The software~~ STORM analysis software ~~software uses~~ contains an autocorrelation drift correction algorithm to recognise and correct drift in the image due to stage movement. An example of this can be seen in Figure 3. Furthermore, if multicolour imaging is used, the software can correct for chromatic aberrations assuming a valid warp calibration has been performed.

6. A molecule list which contains all the information for each detected molecule in the image can be exported for further analysis (Note 18).

#### 4. Notes

**Note 1:** ~~Other g~~ Glass-bottomed dishes or multiwell slides can be used for both SIM and dSTORM. e.g. Labtek multiwell slide, MatTek glass-bottomed dishes, etc. In addition, alternative materials are available (e.g. Ibidi slides) which have a similar refractive index to glass and so may also be considered for your application. If you use a different thickness coverslip (e.g. # 1 – 0.15 mm) you must remember to adjust the correction collar of the microscope to ensure that the point spread

function is even. This can be tested by imaging a z-stack of fluorescent beads in the type of imaging dish you will be using. A good PSF has a symmetrical spread of the fluorescent signal as the z-series goes above and below the focal plane of the bead, when viewed in  $xz$  and  $yz$  orientation.

**Note 2:** Platelets can be spread for different time periods depending on the needs of your experiment. They can also be pre-incubated with inhibitors or antibodies to surface proteins of interest (which do not affect adhesion or spreading) as required. Ensure that appropriate controls for inhibitors are included in the experiments.

**Note 3:** The fixation method used will depend on the proteins/structures that you are interested in examining and will need to be determined empirically for your application.

**Note 4:** If you are using an antibody to an extracellular epitope permeabilisation of the cells may not be necessary. This will need to be determined for each antibody. One thing to be aware of if labelling after spreading is the potential for restricted antibody access to the epitope. Increased labelling at the cell edges may not be the real protein distribution but may represent inaccessibility of the antibody to areas that are tightly adhered. It is important therefore that antibodies are well characterised, for example in confocal microscopy first.

**Note 5:** Mice expressing Lifeact-GFP which labels F-actin [46] are available and these can be used to image F-actin dynamics in SIM in live platelets.

**Note 6:** Dilutions and incubation times will depend upon the antibody used and should be determined empirically for each antibody. It is possible to do dual labelling and it is good practice to optimise antibody labelling protocols for each antibody independently. Furthermore, samples which will be stored before imaging may benefit from post-labelling fixation [18].

**Note 7:** To increase spatial resolution, labelling cells with fluorescently conjugated antibody Fab fragments (~9 nm), or a camelid nanobody which is even smaller (~3 nm), is preferable to labelling with a primary antibody (~15 nm) followed by a fluorescently-tagged secondary antibody. This ensures that the fluorescent dye (which is detected) is as close as possible to the epitope of interest.

Using a primary plus secondary antibody approach can add up to 30 nm between the epitope and the detected 'blink' which, in turn, can artificially enlarge structures when viewed on the nanometre scale of dSTORM. Increasingly, samples with HALO and SNAP tags are being used for super-resolution imaging [47], but this application has not been extended into megakaryocytes or platelets to our knowledge

**Note 8:** It is worth spending time setting the appropriate exposure time and laser intensities at the beginning as this will affect subsequent image quality if it is not set correctly. [A balance between laser power and exposure time needs to be obtained which gives a good dynamic range in the captured image whilst minimising photobleaching in the sample.](#)

**Note 9:** In 3D-SIM, each z-plane consists of 15 individual images, therefore care must be taken to ensure that the cell does not bleach within the acquisition by limiting the laser power and the number of z-positions i.e. do not [capture excessive images](#) ~~take lots~~ above or below the focal plane. Bleaching will negatively affect image quality.

**Comment [JG54]:** "capture excessive images"?

**Note 10:** Multi-colour and live cell imaging is possible with SIM. Provided the microscope you use is equipped with the appropriate laser lines, several different fluorophores can be used to label multiple proteins of interest in both 2D and 3D. [The use of s](#)Single colour controls to ensure no bleed-through or cross-talk is occurring is recommended. Fluorescent labelling of platelets for live cell imaging could be in the form of a transgenic mouse model (protein of interest tagged with a fluorescent protein), a non-function blocking antibody to a surface receptor, or other fluorescent cell permeable probe. For these, labelling protocols will need to be determined by the user.

**Note 11:** [A suite of ImageJ plugins called SIMcheck \[48\] is available for checking the quality of SIM data and determining the resolution of SIM images.](#) ~~If the characteristic petal shape is not seen when a Fourier transform is performed on your SIM images, acquisition settings will~~ [may need to be adjusted to obtain a good raw image data set in which the grid pattern is clear. \(e.g. adjusting focal plane, or ensuring that the exposure time and laser power are optimised to achieve the correct level of grey values\).](#) [If the petal shape is missing one or more "lobes", this may indicate that there is a problem](#)

[with one or more of the diffraction grid pattern rotations or changes may need to be made to the reconstruction settings \[27\]. In addition, a suite of ImageJ plugins called SIMcheck \[48\] is available for checking the quality of SIM data and determining the resolution of SIM images.](#)

**Note 12:** Having a stable temperature to image in is very important to minimise thermal drift which can have a big impact on STORM image quality. Heating the incubator for at least 12 h prior to imaging will ensure that drift is minimised. Setting the temperature to slightly higher than room temperature (e.g. 28 °C) will allow the incubator to maintain a steady temperature more easily.

**Note 13:** Depending on the fluorophore being imaged, the buffer conditions may need to be varied. Much work has been done on identifying the optimal buffers for different fluorophores [43,18] and so the appropriate combination of buffers for the experiment should be determined by the user.

**Note 14:** If your protein of interest is membrane-bound, for example a cell surface receptor, it is recommended that you image your spread platelet sample in TIRF mode. This will ensure that you are only illuminating, and therefore imaging, the proteins that are at the adherent platelet surface. This will also increase the signal to noise ratio which will result in cleaner images. For a detailed method on performing TIRF see Poulter *et al* [49].

**Note 15:** Raw data can alternatively be reconstructed using the Thunderstorm plugin [50] for Fiji [41].

**Note 16:** [Individual software programmes have different tools for performing this task. In the examples given in figure 2, the Nikon](#) The “peak intensity” tool can help the user to identify the threshold values for a particular image. When this tool is placed over an area which you consider to be a blink, making sure the centre is over the brightest pixel, the intensity over background is displayed. This value can then be used to select the threshold level.

**Note 17:** [The “fit overlapping peaks” tool uses the DAOSTORM algorithm is commonly used to fit overlapping blinks \[51\]. This is a useful feature especially for 3D data but it must be noted that this function will increase reconstruction processing time considerably.](#)

**Comment [JG55]:** generic or Nikon specific?

**Note 18:** The resolution of the final super-resolved image can be determined using a number of methods. For SMLM data, the user can compare localisation precision (also known as uncertainty) for each identified molecule in the sample or measure full width half maximal (FWHM) distances of identified objects. Whilst these provides a good measure of the quality of the data generated, the effective resolution of the final image can be calculated using the Fourier Ring Correlation (FRC) method [52] which takes into account uncertainty and labelling density.

## 5. References

1. Hartwig JH (1992) Mechanisms of actin rearrangements mediating platelet activation. *The Journal of cell biology* 118 (6):1421-1442
2. Hartwig JH, Barkalow K, Azim A, Italiano J (1999) The elegant platelet: signals controlling actin assembly. *Thrombosis and haemostasis* 82 (2):392-398
3. van Nispen tot Pannerden H, de Haas F, Geerts W, Posthuma G, van Dijk S, Heijnen HF (2010) The platelet interior revisited: electron tomography reveals tubular alpha-granule subtypes. *Blood* 116 (7):1147-1156. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-02-268680
4. van Nispen Tot Pannerden HE, van Dijk SM, Du V, Heijnen HF (2009) Platelet protein disulfide isomerase is localized in the dense tubular system and does not become surface expressed after activation. *Blood* 114 (21):4738-4740. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-03-210450
5. White JG (1998) Use of the electron microscope for diagnosis of platelet disorders. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 24 (2):163-168. doi:10.1055/s-2007-995836
6. Combs CA (2010) *Fluorescence Microscopy: A Concise Guide to Current Imaging Methods*. Current protocols in neuroscience / editorial board, Jacqueline N Crawley [et al] 0 2:Unit2.1-Unit2.1. doi:10.1002/0471142301.ns0201s50
7. Abbe E (1873) Beiträge zur Theorie des Mikroskops und der mikroskopischen Wahrnehmung. *Archiv für Mikroskopische Anatomie* 9:413-418
8. Inoué S (1990) Foundations of Confocal Scanned Imaging in Light Microscopy. In: Pawley JB (ed) *Handbook of Biological Confocal Microscopy*. Springer US, Boston, MA, pp 1-14. doi:10.1007/978-1-4615-7133-9\_1
9. Huang B, Bates M, Zhuang X (2009) Super resolution fluorescence microscopy. *Annual review of biochemistry* 78:993-1016. doi:10.1146/annurev.biochem.77.061906.092014
10. Sidor AM, Czymmek KJ, Puchner EM, Mennella V (2015) Super-Resolution Microscopy: From Single Molecules to Supramolecular Assemblies. *Trends in Cell Biology* 25 (12):730-748. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2015.10.004
11. John RA, Stephen TR, Michael WD (2013) Single molecule localization microscopy for superresolution. *Journal of Optics* 15 (9):094001

12. Deschout H, Shivanandan A, Annibale P, Scarselli M, Radenovic A (2014) Progress in quantitative single-molecule localization microscopy. *Histochemistry and cell biology* 142 (1):5-17. doi:10.1007/s00418-014-1217-y
13. Nicovich PR, Owen DM, Gaus K (2017) Turning single-molecule localization microscopy into a quantitative bioanalytical tool. *Nat Protocols* 12 (3):453-460. doi:10.1038/nprot.2016.166
14. Rust MJ, Bates M, Zhuang X (2006) Sub-diffraction-limit imaging by stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (STORM). *Nat Meth* 3 (10):793-796
15. Betzig E, Patterson GH, Sougrat R, Lindwasser OW, Olenych S, Bonifacino JS, Davidson MW, Lippincott-Schwartz J, Hess HF (2006) Imaging intracellular fluorescent proteins at nanometer resolution. *Science (New York, NY)* 313 (5793):1642-1645. doi:10.1126/science.1127344
16. Heilemann M, van de Linde S, Schuttpelz M, Kasper R, Seefeldt B, Mukherjee A, Tinnefeld P, Sauer M (2008) Subdiffraction-resolution fluorescence imaging with conventional fluorescent probes. *Angewandte Chemie (International ed in English)* 47 (33):6172-6176. doi:10.1002/anie.200802376
17. Huang B, Wang W, Bates M, Zhuang X (2008) Three-dimensional Super-resolution Imaging by Stochastic Optical Reconstruction Microscopy. *Science (New York, NY)* 319 (5864):810-813. doi:10.1126/science.1153529
18. van de Linde S, Loschberger A, Klein T, Heidbreder M, Wolter S, Heilemann M, Sauer M (2011) Direct stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy with standard fluorescent probes. *Nat Protocols* 6 (7):991-1009
19. Sage D, Kirshner H, Pengo T, Stuurman N, Min J, Manley S, Unser M (2015) Quantitative evaluation of software packages for single-molecule localization microscopy. *Nat Meth* 12 (8):717-724. doi:10.1038/nmeth.3442
20. Thompson RE, Larson DR, Webb WW (2002) Precise nanometer localization analysis for individual fluorescent probes. *Biophysical journal* 82 (5):2775-2783. doi:10.1016/s0006-3495(02)75618-x
21. Whelan DR, Bell TDM (2015) Image artifacts in Single Molecule Localization Microscopy: why optimization of sample preparation protocols matters. *Scientific Reports* 5:7924. doi:10.1038/srep07924

22. Requejo-Isidro J (2013) Fluorescence nanoscopy. Methods and applications. *Journal of Chemical Biology* 6 (3):97-120. doi:10.1007/s12154-013-0096-3
23. Owen DM, Rentero C, Rossy J, Magenau A, Williamson D, Rodriguez M, Gaus K (2010) PALM imaging and cluster analysis of protein heterogeneity at the cell surface. *Journal of biophotonics* 3 (7):446-454. doi:10.1002/jbio.200900089
24. Pagoon SV, Cordoba SP, Owen DM, Rothery SM, Oszmiana A, Davis DM (2013) Superresolution microscopy reveals nanometer-scale reorganization of inhibitory natural killer cell receptors upon activation of NKG2D. *Science signaling* 6 (285):ra62. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2003947
25. Williamson DJ, Owen DM, Rossy J, Magenau A, Wehrmann M, Gooding JJ, Gaus K (2011) Pre-existing clusters of the adaptor Lat do not participate in early T cell signaling events. *Nature immunology* 12 (7):655-662. doi:10.1038/ni.2049
26. Ashdown GW, Burn GL, Williamson DJ, Pandžić E, Peters R, Holden M, Ewers H, Shao L, Wiseman PW, Owen DM (2017) Live-Cell Super-resolution Reveals F-Actin and Plasma Membrane Dynamics at the T Cell Synapse. *Biophysical journal* 112 (8):1703-1713. doi:<https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2017.01.038>
27. Demmerle J, Innocent C, North AJ, Ball G, Muller M, Miron E, Matsuda A, Dobbie IM, Markaki Y, Schermelleh L (2017) Strategic and practical guidelines for successful structured illumination microscopy. *Nat Protocols* 12 (5):988-1010. doi:10.1038/nprot.2017.019
28. Gustafsson MGL (2000) Surpassing the lateral resolution limit by a factor of two using structured illumination microscopy. *Journal of Microscopy* 198 (2):82-87. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2818.2000.00710.x
29. Schermelleh L, Carlton PM, Haase S, Shao L, Winoto L, Kner P, Burke B, Cardoso MC, Agard DA, Gustafsson MG, Leonhardt H, Sedat JW (2008) Subdiffraction multicolor imaging of the nuclear periphery with 3D structured illumination microscopy. *Science (New York, NY)* 320 (5881):1332-1336. doi:10.1126/science.1156947
30. Shao L, Kner P, Rego EH, Gustafsson MGL (2011) Super-resolution 3D microscopy of live whole cells using structured illumination. *Nat Meth* 8 (12):1044-1046

31. Kamykowski J, Carlton P, Sehgal S, Storie B (2011) Quantitative immunofluorescence mapping reveals little functional coclustering of proteins within platelet  $\alpha$ -granules. *Blood* 118 (5):1370-1373. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-330910
32. Aslan JE, Baker SM, Loren CP, Haley KM, Itakura A, Pang J, Greenberg DL, David LL, Manser E, Chernoff J, McCarty OJT (2013) The PAK system links Rho GTPase signaling to thrombin-mediated platelet activation. *American Journal of Physiology - Cell Physiology* 305 (5):C519-C528. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00418.2012
33. Poulter NS, Pollitt AY, Davies A, Malinova D, Nash GB, Hannon MJ, Pikramenou Z, Rappoport JZ, Hartwig JH, Owen DM, Thrasher AJ, Watson SP, Thomas SG (2015) Platelet actin nodules are podosome-like structures dependent on Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein and ARP2/3 complex. *Nat Commun* 6:7254. doi:10.1038/ncomms8254
34. Westmoreland D, Shaw M, Grimes W, Metcalf DJ, Burden JJ, Gomez K, Knight AE, Cutler DF (2016) Super-resolution microscopy as a potential approach to diagnosis of platelet granule disorders. *Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis* 14 (4):839-849. doi:10.1111/jth.13269
35. Jamasbi J, Megens RTA, Bianchini M, Uhland K, Münch G, Ungerer M, Sherman S, Faussner A, Brandl R, John C, Buchner J, Weber C, Lorenz R, Elia N, Siess W (2016) Cross-Linking GPVI-Fc by Anti-Fc Antibodies Potentiates Its Inhibition of Atherosclerotic Plaque- and Collagen-Induced Platelet Activation. *Jacc Basic to Translational Science* 1 (131):142-113. doi:10.1016/j.jacbts.2016.03.008
36. Hell SW, Wichmann J (1994) Breaking the diffraction resolution limit by stimulated emission: stimulated-emission-depletion fluorescence microscopy. *Optics letters* 19 (11):780-782
37. Pollitt AY, Poulter NS, Gitz E, Navarro-Nunez L, Wang YJ, Hughes CE, Thomas SG, Nieswandt B, Douglas MR, Owen DM, Jackson DG, Dustin ML, Watson SP (2014) Syk and Src family kinases regulate C-type lectin receptor 2 (CLEC-2)-mediated clustering of podoplanin and platelet adhesion to lymphatic endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 289 (52):35695-35710. doi:10.1074/jbc.M114.584284
38. Moreau T, Evans AL, Vasquez L, Tijssen MR, Yan Y, Trotter MW, Howard D, Colzani M, Arumugam M, Wu WH, Dalby A, Lampela R, Bouet G, Hobbs CM, Pask DC, Payne H, Ponomaryov T, Brill A, Soranzo N, Ouwehand WH, Pedersen RA, Ghevaert C (2016) Large-scale production of

- megakaryocytes from human pluripotent stem cells by chemically defined forward programming. *Nat Commun* 7:11208. doi:10.1038/ncomms11208
39. Thon JN, Dykstra BJ, Beaulieu LM (2017) Platelet bioreactor: accelerated evolution of design and manufacture. *Platelets*:1-6. doi:10.1080/09537104.2016.1265922
40. Thon JN, Mazutis L, Wu S, Sylman JL, Ehrlicher A, Machlus KR, Feng Q, Lu S, Lanza R, Neeves KB, Weitz DA, Italiano JE, Jr. (2014) Platelet bioreactor-on-a-chip. *Blood* 124 (12):1857-1867
41. Schindelin J, Arganda-Carreras I, Frise E, Kaynig V, Longair M, Pietzsch T, Preibisch S, Rueden C, Saalfeld S, Schmid B, Tinevez JY, White DJ, Hartenstein V, Eliceiri K, Tomancak P, Cardona A (2012) Fiji: an open-source platform for biological-image analysis. *Nature methods* 9 (7):676-682. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2019
42. Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW (2012) NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature methods* 9 (7):671-675
43. Dempsey GT, Vaughan JC, Chen KH, Bates M, Zhuang X (2011) Evaluation of fluorophores for optimal performance in localization-based super-resolution imaging. *Nature methods* 8 (12):1027-1036. doi:10.1038/nmeth.1768
44. Metcalf DJ Localisation microscopy immunolabelling guide.
45. Metcalf DJ, Edwards R, Kumarswami N, Knight AE (2013) Test Samples for Optimizing STORM Super-Resolution Microscopy. *Journal of Visualized Experiments : JoVE* (79):50579. doi:10.3791/50579
46. Riedl J, Flynn KC, Raducanu A, Gartner F, Beck G, Bosl M, Bradke F, Massberg S, Aszodi A, Sixt M, Wedlich-Soldner R (2010) Lifeact mice for studying F-actin dynamics. *Nature methods* 7 (3):168-169. doi:10.1038/nmeth0310-168
47. Stagge F, Mitronova GY, Belov VN, Wurm CA, Jakobs S (2013) Snap-, CLIP- and Halo-Tag Labelling of Budding Yeast Cells. *PLOS ONE* 8 (10):e78745. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0078745
48. Ball G, Demmerle J, Kaufmann R, Davis I, Dobbie IM, Schermelleh L (2015) SIMcheck: a Toolbox for Successful Super-resolution Structured Illumination Microscopy. *Scientific Reports* 5:15915. doi:10.1038/srep15915

49. Poulter NS, Pitkeathly WTE, Smith PJ, Rappoport JZ (2015) The Physical Basis of Total Internal Reflection Fluorescence (TIRF) Microscopy and Its Cellular Applications. In: Verveer PJ (ed) *Advanced Fluorescence Microscopy: Methods and Protocols*. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp 1-23. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-2080-8\_1
50. Ovesny M, Krizek P, Borkovec J, Svindrych Z, Hagen GM (2014) ThunderSTORM: a comprehensive ImageJ plug-in for PALM and STORM data analysis and super-resolution imaging. *Bioinformatics (Oxford, England)* 30 (16):2389-2390. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btu202
51. Holden SJ, Uphoff S, Kapanidis AN (2011) DAOSTORM: an algorithm for high- density super-resolution microscopy. *Nat Meth* 8 (4):279-280
52. Nieuwenhuizen RPJ, Lidke KA, Bates M, Puig DL, Grunwald D, Stallinga S, Rieger B (2013) Measuring image resolution in optical nanoscopy. *Nat Meth* 10 (6):557-562. doi:10.1038/nmeth.2448

## Figure legends

### Figure 1 – Structured Illumination Microscopy (SIM) of platelet actin cytoskeleton. A)

Acquisition of 3D-SIM images on the N-SIM system generates an .nd2 file containing 15 images for each z position. These 15 images differ in the rotation and phase of the diffraction grating. The 3 images show examples of the 3 rotations (indicated by lines in bottom right corner). The diffraction grating pattern can be seen as striping within the image. B) Example diffraction limited epifluorescence image of a single z slice. C) Intensity profile from the line shown in panel B. Note that overall shape of cell is seen, but individual structural detail of the cytoskeleton is not. D) Fourier transform of the image shown in panel B showing the frequency space representation. Low frequency information is located in the centre. The size of the central observable region is defined by the maximum frequency the objective can transmit. E) Reconstructed SIM image of the same z slice as panel B. The increased contrast and resolution of the image is clear. F) Intensity line profile from the line in panel E. Note the increased resolution and contrast of the image results in individual actin bundles being resolved. G) Fourier transform of the image shown in panel E showing the characteristic petal shape indicating that the high frequency information from outside the diffraction limited observable region was successfully captured. Scale bar in all images = 5  $\mu\text{m}$ .

### Figure 2 – direct Stochastic Optical Reconstruction Microscopy (dSTORM) of platelets A)

Diffraction limited epifluorescence image of a human platelet spread on fibrinogen and immunostained for phosphotyrosine. A secondary antibody conjugated with Alexa 647 was used. B) Reconstructed 2D-dSTORM image of cell in panel A. The increased resolution allows the resolution of diffraction limited structures as indicated by the arrow. C) Metrics provided by the reconstruction algorithm include total number of molecules detected, localisation precision (in xy for each molecule detected) and the number of photons counted per molecule. The lower graph shows the important relationship between photon count and localisation precision, with the most highly localised molecules being the ones with the highest photon count. D) Example of a 3D-dSTORM reconstructed image showing z position indicated by a colour scale. E) Zoomed in 3D representation of the box in

panel D showing 3D organisation of phosphotyrosine within the platelet. Scale bar in all images = 2.5  $\mu\text{m}$ .

**Figure 3 – Example of software based drift correction in final dSTORM images.** A) Example of a reconstructed dSTORM image which exhibited some stage drift during acquisition prior to applying drift correction. B) The same image following application of the autocorrelation drift correction algorithm within NIS-Elements. Scale bar = 2.5  $\mu\text{m}$ .